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re a mansion is available in such a museum it is used as

to t the type of life associated with it. St Fagans
ts gardens, therefore, form one of the exhibits in
olk Museum.

and
the Welsh

" ST. FAGANS CASTLE: HISTORY

The lordship of St. Fagans dates from Norman times. ' was
bestowed upon Sir Peter le Sor by Robert Fitzhamo: the
No; ‘conqueror of Glamorgan. It was the le Sor: who
founded the fortress which gave St. Fagans Castle its «:me.
The lordship passed in the 14th century by marriage - the
le Veles. Through the marriage of Alice de Vele to - avid
Mathew of Radyr in 1475, St. Fagans came into the pos:-sion
of this well-known Glamorgan family. By 1560 a part - the
manor had come into the possession (probably by pu:- hase)
of Dr. John Gibbon of Cefn-tre-Bayn (now known as F:ntre-
bane). It was Gibbon who built the present house (see below).
His daughter married into the Herbert family and through this
alliance, St. Fagans Castle passed into the hands of Sir William
Herbert of Cardiff, and from Herbert, Sir Edward Lewis of the
Van, Caerphilly, bought the Castle and estates in 1616. In 1730,
his descendant, Elizabeth Lewis, who had succeeded to the
St. Fagans possessions, married Other Windsor, third Earl of
Plymouth and ninth Baron Windsor. St. Fagans Castle
remained in the possession of the Plymouth family from 1730
to 1947.

During the Lewis ownership, the parish became for a brief
day (8th May, 1648) notable in the history of Britain when the
battle of St. Fagans between the royalists under General
Laugharne and a Parliamentary force under Colonel Horton,
was fought to a finish, the royalists being completely routed,
and three thousand of their men taken prisoners. This was the
most considerable engagement in Wales during the Civil War.

Remains of the 13th-century curtain wall of the medieval
castle (from which the present house takes its name) is clearly
traceable throughout its course. The house was built within
this curtain, The wall has a (modern) archway through which
the visitor enters the forecourt of the house: it continues
in a sweep southwards on the slope of the knoll on which
the house is built and returns between the house and the
lower fishpond, the north fagade of the house (overlooking
the formal garden) completing the enclosure. Part of the
foundations of the north-west corner of the wall is visible in
the present Tea Room (while the site of another excavated

The fishponds are
the terrace parapets bel
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. The kitchen (see
- still retains its ¢
features, but the b
pantry area was
verted into do
offices in the
L S century. The p:=
Exhibition Roor: -
still later addition, having been built in the 1890s for ' se
a dining room.

Certain features of architectural and historical interes: were
introduced into the Castle during the 19th century. The
elaborately carved over-mantel in the Hall, bearing the
Windsor arms, is of 16th-17th-century date, but it was not until
1730 that the Windsor occupancy began. It is obvious therefore
that this over-mantel was introduced at a later period. A map
of the Castle environs made in 1850 shows that the magnificent
lead cistern now in the forecourt was not then in position. This
cistern which is dated 1620 bears in addition to the royal arms
a panel bearing the arms of Sir Edward Lewis (but inserted
later). The cistern was removed after 1850 probably from the
Van, Caerphilly.

about 1670, is fro;

In the back hall
an 18th-century sed

The Hall, furnished

It was the practice for many centuries in Wales, and in
Glamorgan in particular, to whitewash the walls of houses
both great and small. Muriau gwynion Morgannwg (the white
walls of Glamorgan) have indeed become proverbial, and it is
probable that the 16-century ‘faire house’ was a white house:
indeed traces of this colouring were discovered in the work of
restoration. The exterior of the house has therefore been
whitened to restore it to its original appearance.

THE HOUSE: GROUND FLOOR
The visitor enters through the porch into what was originally

the ‘screens-passage’ with the hall on the right. He should turn
left at the end of the passage to begin in the kitchen.
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Long Gallery

THE HOUSE: FIRST FLOOR

The Long Gallery extends from the main staircase to the
back staircase.

Long galleries, which were normal features of Elizabethan
mansions, were used for a variety of purposes, including the
display of tapestries, pictures and furniture. When the Museum
possesses more furniture of the 17th century it is hoped to
refurnish the gallery with greater homogeneity than at
present. The visitor should note a side-table from Tredegar
Park; a chest on stand, dated 1734, a tallboy and two
inlaid chests from Milford Haven, Pembrokeshire; and
a cupboard with drawers, a chest of drawers, and chairs
from the Castle itself and from Tredegar Park; a pier-glass
12



' of drawers and an unusual pair of cane-backed ¢
1720, from Tredegar Park. The stone mantel, d
was orginally at T§ Mawr, ‘Whitchurch, Glam

Castle. The tapestries, of the end of the 17th century, bear
the mark of the Mortlake factory. They form part of a series
illustrating the ledgend of Calisto and Diana from Ovid’s

GARDENS AND GROUNDS

These illustrate the spacious setting of the nobleman’s life
and should be considered by the visitor as part of the exhibit.
The visitor will note, on entering, the 18th-century gates and
the cedars of Lebanon. The formal garden immediately north
of the house has interesting examples of topiarian work, The
cherub figures leading to the fountain are of late 18th-century

14



¢ "used for that purpose. chin

19th century date, and a reaper-and- bmder made

also exhibited to illustrate various methods of harvesting
Machines and implements normally found in barns
buildings, together with a Hornsby Ackroyd oil engine, ai
included to show the methods of threshing, winnowing, chaff-
cutting and corn-grinding. There is also a further section
illustrating the management and care of livestock, with objects
relating to sheep-shearing, cattle and horse grooming and
veterinary equipment. The Museum is exceptionally fortunate
that over the years the agricultural collection has been enlarged
so that 20th-century farm-tools, implements and machines are
included in order to illustrate the more recent trends in
present-day methods of farming in Wales. A speclal handbook
to the gallery is being prepared.

THE GALLERY OF MATERIAL CULTURE

In this gallery are shown objects ‘illustrating aspects of the

domestic, social, and cultural life of Wales, forearm rather than m
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cking the rectangular box backwards and forwards
a cradle. The second method of churning was by me
a plunger churn where a perforated disc was plunged up
and downwards through the cream. In the box chums, seen
against the end wall, and in the churn attached to the dog
wheel, multi-bladed wooden fans were made to agitate the
cream. The third type of churn was barrel-shaped: here the
whole churn was revolved. Dairy equipment was produced by
the so-called ‘white coopers’ who practised their trade in most
market towns; the most notable cooperage being that of
‘G. Llewellin’ at Haverfordwest, Pembrokeshire, who earned
a considerable reputation as a maker of dairy equipment. An
‘end-over-end’ churn and a butter-working table produced by
the Llewellin Churn Works are shown. Although on most
farms, churns were hand-operated, the process was mechanised
by connecting the churn to a water wheel or ‘horse-power’.
One ingenious method of mechanising became common in
north-west Wales, where the churn was connected to & large
wheel, driven by a chained dog that pawed the inclined wheel
to revolve it. An example from Caernarvonshire is shown.

arms of the Rt. Rev. Jo
Bishop of Lincoln. Willian
Caernarvonshire, and became D«
of Westminster (1620), Bishop of
bishop of York (1641-50).

The development of lighting appliar
century has been so phenomenal that

Butter prints and moulds bearing floral and animal motifs
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replaced the tinder box in Wales only very slowl
types of matches ranging from ‘Congreves’ to ‘Vestas

century too, oil lamps became popular in the countryside a
many types developed.

A selection of arms, ranging from cross-bows to muskets and

from rapiers to duelling pistols are exhibited. In the case

illustrating pistols may be seen a rare pair of silver-mounted
and silver-inlaid pistols by Smith of London, dating from about
1730. A 16th-century wheel-lock pistol represents the earliest
type, which was first made at Nuremberg in 1515. Sixteenth-
century pistols were imported from the continent, but by 1625
pistols were being made in Britain. The earliest types used were
the matchlock, in which the charge was ignited by a slow
match of burning tow; the flintlock, in which the charge was
fired by the friction of a piece of flint against steel; and the
wheel-lock where the piece of flint held by a spring was in
contact with a serrated steel wheel. The discovery of chemical
substances which exploded spontaneously when struck between
two hard surfaces gave rise to the detonating pistol. These
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Lewsyn was reprieved I
The stocks are the Dolgellau town
for the punishment of a man
Stocks were widely used in Wales from ear!
for the correction of petty misdemean
begging, and drunkenness.




St. Fagans Castle: the hall fireplace

St. Fagans Castle: the knot garden




St. Fagans Castle: the hall

Wood-turnery made at the Welsh Folk Museum

St. Fagans Castle: 18th-century bedroom




Welsh Folk Museum: administrative block

Welsh Folk Museum: the first gallery block
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Abernodwydd Farmhouse

Abernodwydd Farmhouse: living room

Kennixton Farmhouse: a bedroom




Llainfadyn: cottage

The Rhayader Tannery: currier’s bench
Gipsy caravan
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Tollgate House: interior
The Cockpit: interior




Capel Pen-rhiw

Capel Pen-rhiw: interior
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them, while a pers
to tell fortunes.
Several customs also grew around courtship and marriage.
most widespread being the sending of cards on St. Val
Day (14th February) a custom of considerable antiquit
A selection of Welsh Valentines is shown in the second
The Museum possesses a large collection of love spoons,
which several are shown here. The spoons were carved
young men for presentation to their sweethearts. The earlies
spoon in the Museum collection is dated 1667. Sume of the
early spoons were copies of silver spoons but generally the
love-spoon was a conventionalized elaboration. It became
important not to carve a serviceable spoon, but one which
manifested the carver’s art. Some of thé best examples of
carving are, therefore, functionally the most ludicrous. A
pocket-knife was generally the only implement used by the
carver and being a personal token of love such spoons were
never associated with any craft and never mass-produced.
The Mari Lwyd custom was formerly widespread through
Wales but during the past two hundred years became associated

they died. Most of the early socief
of each other and locally sponsored
local societies is shown in the wall case. T!
these local societies was encouraged b
Encouragement of Friendly Societies in 1793.
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posts, perhaps miles apart,
match. In the late 19th century, it riv
popular game in Glamorgan, but during the present c
rugby has become by far the most popular game. In thy
against the end wall is a collection of specimens re
rugby between 1881 and 1927. The collection of caps w
the famous scrum-half T. H. Vile of Newport is shown. °
trace the player’s career from the local team, Pill Harri
through the Newport and Monmouthshire teams to
International Cap. An International Welsh Cap won b;
Edward Peake and dated 1880 is probably the first of its kind.
Another popular sport in Wales was that of cock-fighting
which reached the height of its popularity in the 19th century.
Great care was taken in the feeding of fighting cocks and they.
were often given a diet of sweet butter with white sugar candy
and rosemary, wheatmeal mixed with ale and the whites of
eges. They were put out to spar, their spurs being covered with
muffles during training and were prepared for fighting by
clipping their wings and sharpening their beaks. The birds were
equipped with metal spurs, in some cases of silver. A cock-pit
from Denbigh may be seen re-erected in this Museum.
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was ordered by
faith. He was the
cremated the bod
Christ. Dr. Price’s 0!
were issued for it. °
Llantrisant on 31st J:
illustrating his activities
Material relating to early Bo
The Museum possesses an ou
and embroideries and a few of those :
century schools are shown here. The fine Wo!
by children, both as an exercise in needlework and for learnin

the alphabet. School exercise-books from Cardiff schools are
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Eisteddfod

membershlp The preachmg desk was used by Jo
at Bedwas, Monmouthshire: desks of this type were frequ
used by Nonconformist preachers for services in the o
and in farmhouses.

The tongs in the second case were used for the remo
troublesome dogs from church services, while the bell on
floor of the case is an Obit Bell used on the death or tl
anniversary of the death of a person. The third case is devo!
to material associated with the Sunday school in Wales.

The Eisteddfod as we know it today is indirectiy a developmenfr
of sessions held in the 15th and 16th centuries for the purpose

of regulating and licensing bards. The Eisteddfod as a folk
institution may be said to have originated in the 18th century.

Its work was fostered by several notable societies, chief among

them the Honourable Society of Cymmrodorion and the
Gwyneddigion Society. Material relatmg to these societies is
exhibited.?

1A descriptive booklet is published by the Museum.
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harp in Britain.
The pibgorn, horn

musical instrument
century by a listener
‘medium between th
hautbois’.

The crwth is the third tradlﬁta
a class of instruments widespread |
afield. The example exhibited was
Bachellacth in Caernarvor shire. Among
on exhibition are the serpent and bassoon.
forte exhibited is especially noteworthy




able orally on Welsh folk life and tradition, inf
has been handed down in the main by word of
generation to generation. The sources of this body
ledge are the older members of society throughout W:
its widest extent it encompasses the complete orde:
daily life in a particular area. When undertaking field
naturally collecting has to be concentrated upon cel
aspects.

Since 1957 members of staff have been undertaking

interviewing of informants on a number of subjects, a ;

making sound-recordings of the evidence submitted. Th %’

subjects which have received particular attention are: %
(a) the pattern of agriculture, the crafts and domestic life, e
(b) folk-lore, and folk-song, 5
(c) dialect speech,

and idioms. One aspect

complicated structure whic
aspect is to record thos
of the heritage of the farmer, the
craftsman, when they deal with th

e . s . : i hich disappe
In addition to the sound-recordings, manuscript material daily work, Vocab“lﬂﬂesez’i_work wgs, in t

e 188 ; ] in this present age. Fi ;
embodying information is collected. Still photography and the 1 of Wales wh
cine-filming of processes in the fields of agriculture and crafts concentrated upon those areas
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Stryt Lydan
Barn

OTHER EXHIBITS

A smal} p:_odcm room in the Castle is in use tempo:
an Exhibition Room. This room is on the ground floor
approached from the foot of the main staircase.

RE-ERECTED BUILDINGS

In the north-west corner of the grounds, a timber-fram
barn from Stryt Lydan near Penley, Flintshire, has been
re-erected. It is the gift of the Rt. Hon. Lord Kenyon, and was
built here with the financial assistance of the Welsh Committee |
9f. the Festival of Britain, 1951. The barn consists of two parts
Jomeddtogether by a drift-house into which the loaded wagons
entered.

44

e fabric has

(a) a small late
discarded as not bei
leading into it from
visitors; (b) the late s
traditional tile.

The factory was worked by wal
worked in the Folk Museum. Wa

1A descriptive booklet is published by the Museum..
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This house, from Llangadfan, Montgomery:

Mr. J. C. Evans: its re-erection was financed by the
gomery County Council. It is a timber-framed house
stone sills. The framed panels are filled with hazel w
daubed with clay and skimmed over with plaster. The fl
are of beaten earth. Originally built in the 16th century,
house was renovated in the 17th century when the pr
loft, chimney, and windows were inserted. Note the ungla:

windows with internal sliding shutters. The roof is of wheaten

straw placed on rafters and hazel rods.

In the kitchen the visitor should note the open hearth with

pit. The house is furnished with 17-century material: note
in the kitchen the cwpwrdd deuddarn and chest, both from
Montgomeryshire; in the dairy a cheese-press with stone
weight from Merioneth and two types of churns (swing and
knocker); in the chamber, a box bedstead from Montgomery-
shire, and in the bedroom beyond the kitchen a fine 17th-
century chest of early type from Montgomeryshire. The quilts
shown on each bed are of traditional type. The loft is entered
from a ladder; the two end loft-rooms being unfurnished and

46

characteristic of G

and a chair with dray
parlour). In the back- ’
with dairying, etc., have been |
press of box and windlass type i
a butter-working table. The beds |
are from Glamorgan and all the qm}ts
note also the children’s bed on the floor |




Ttust tomther with a grant from the Radnorshire
Council. The house is of a type formerly widespread th
out the Welsh moorland, a long-house occupied by both
family and its cattle. The dwelling-house (pen uchaf) is
north end and comprises two living-rooms on the ground floc

and two bedrooms above. The other part of the building is the
cow-house and stable (pen isaf). Between the two parts is the
main entrance door-way opening into a passage called y pen- ‘-L‘;
llawr: this serves as a feeding-walk. This door-way is wide

enough for admitting long-horned cattle and served both men
and beasts: another door at the south end of the building led
to the stable.

The floors of the main living-room and the feeding-walk are
paved with local stone slabs: the floor of the ‘lower end’ is
about a foot lower in level and is part earth and part pitched
with river pebbles. The cow-house has stalls for cattle and a
calf-pen. Beyond it (with a separate entrancc) is the stable for
horses. Above the cow-house and stable is a loft for hay.

1A descriptive booklet is published by the Museum.
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many of the
sides of the w:
slate platform)
the open fireplace
the doorway to e
material, replace
neighbouring Pen-yr-o!

The cottage is essentially o
converted into two by placing
sleeping end. By placing boards to
a loft (generally known as crogloffi
ascent to it by means of a ladder. Some of m
came originally from the cottage itself.




The roof is built on false crucks, i.e. upright timbers mos
into the ends of the loft beams and on to which the roof tr
were scarfed and pegged. The central truss, howev
exception, due to the insertion of the large window behi
pulpit. The tiled roof was replaced by slate in 1870, but in th
re-erection here tiles have been restored. The floor is of beaten
earth except for the communion place which is boarded.
The environs of the chapel have been reconstructed as far .
as possible and the cemetery enclosed as it was before it was
extended in the 19th century. Stone seats are set against the
bank in front of the building: these were used during preaching
festivals, The stable, originally attached to the chapel, had long
disappeared and could not therefore be reconstructed.

The chapel served the Unitarians of the parishes of Llangeler
and Penboyr. Its first pastor was the Rev. David Lloyd,
(1724-79), who was followed by several eminent Welshmen
including the Rev. David Davis (1745-1827) of Castell-hywel,
and the Rev. William Thomas, Gwilym Marles (1834-79). At
one time the Rev. David Davies (1763-1816), Independent
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north side
hides were ¢
where horse

a white leathe
19th century.
The tanyard itself
others covered b,
oak-lined pits in tl
making of tanning liqt
water. The bark obtai
stored and ground into
the back of the tannery. Th
the actual tanning of the hides
liquor. After scrubbing and washinj
centre of the yard, the leather was take
on the first floor of the building. Each pi
zinc platform and was then ready for use




Gipsy Caravan

Milestones,
etc.

and roof remained, the internal fittings having bees
probably in the late 19th century. The ﬁghtmg f
seating accommodation, and the promenade have, the!
been reconstructed. r

Mr. Arthur McTaggart Short presented a gally-coloured gip:
caravan as used in South Wales. This is shown in a field corne
in the park. The gipsies have been colourful personalities |
Wales throughout the years, the Woods, Lovells, Lees, an

several other well-known families contributing much to the

Welsh scene.

On the road leading from the Museum Block to Kennixton
Farmhouse, the visitor will note two Glamorgan milestones;
one in cast-iron is dated 1841. They are the gift of the
Glamorgan County Council. A boundary stone from Aberafan,
Glamorgan, the gift of the Port Talbot Borough Council, is
also shown. A parish-boundary stone dated 1862, from

1A descriptive booklet is published by the Museum.
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main ticket oﬂietz.
park is available
public is sought to b;
ties any old buildings w
units. The offer of such

desired. :

APPEAL FOR

Money is urgently needed for the blishy
workshops, for the transport and reconstruct ﬂhe
farm buildings, etc., and for the development




hourly, at the hour, and travel by way
convenient for the town centre will be found




“~aTmonNne>»

Ticket Office

Exhibition Gallery
Museum Offices
Museum Workshops
Car Park

Restaurant and snack bar
Picnic Area

Toilets

| St. Fagans Castle

1 Cooper

3 Wood Turner

4 Coach House

5 Dovecot

6 Esgair Moel Woollen Factory
7 Stryt Lydan Barn

8 Milestone

9 Gipsy Caravan

10 Capel Pen-rhiw
|| Abernodwydd Farmhouse

12 Boundary Stone

13 Kennixton Farmhouse

14 Telford Gate

15 Hendre'r-ywydd Uchaf Farmhouse
16 Tannery

17 Cockpit

18 Tollhouse

19 Llainfadyn Coctage

20 Cilewent Farmhouse

21 Smithy

22 Boat House #0d Nec House






